
City of Keene Zoning Board of Adjustment 

AGENDA 

Monday, June 2, 2025  6:30 p.m.           City Hall, 2nd Floor Council Chambers 

I. Introduction of Board Members:

II. Minutes of the Previous Meeting: May 5, 2025

III. Unfinished Business:

IV. Hearings:

ZBA-2025-04: Petitioner, Timothy Russett, represented by Jonathan

Collado of HAD Architects, Inc., Rome, GA, requests an Expansion of a

Non-Conforming Use, for property located at 686 Court St., Tax Map #

228-008-000-000 and is in the High Density District. The Petitioner is

requesting an Expansion of a Non-Conforming Use of a veterinary

hospital per Article 26.7.1 of the Zoning Regulations.

V. New Business:

VI. Staff Updates:

Master Plan – Future Summit

Board Data Collection

Annual City Council Report

VII. Communications and Miscellaneous:

VIII. Non-Public Session: (if required)

IX. Adjournment:

~< COMMUNITY 
~ DEVELOPMENT Page 1 of 28



Page intentionally left blank

Page 2 of 28



City of Keene 1 

New Hampshire 2 

 3 

ZONING BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 4 

MEETING MINUTES 5 

 6 

Monday, May 5, 2025 6:30 PM Council Chambers, 
             City Hall 7 

Members Present: 
Richard Clough, Chair 
Edward Guyot, Vice Chair  
Tad Schrantz  
Adam Burke 
 

Members Not Present: 
Zach LeRoy, Alternate 
 

Staff Present: 
Evan Clements, Planner, Deputy Zoning 
Administrator 
Mari Brunner, Senior Planner, Acting Zoning 
Administrator 
 

I) Introduction of Board Members 8 
 9 

Chair Clough called the meeting to order at 6:30 PM and explained the procedures of the 10 

meeting. Roll call was conducted.  11 
 12 

II) Minutes of the Previous Meeting: April 7, 2025 13 
 14 

Mr. Schrantz made a motion to approve the meeting minutes of April 7, 2025. Mr. Guyot 15 

seconded the motion, which passed by unanimous vote.  16 
 17 

III) Unfinished Business  18 
 19 

Chair Clough asked if there was any unfinished business. Mr. Clements replied no. 20 
 21 

IV) Hearings 22 
 23 

A) ZBA-2025-03: Petitioner, Jarod Goodell, Keene, requests an appeal of an 24 

administrative decision from ZBA-2025-03 for property located at 67 Marlboro St, Tax 25 

Map #590-090-000-000-000. The Petitioner is appealing the Acting Zoning Administrator’s 26 

decision that all buildings and structures on a parcel located in the Downtown Edge 27 

District must be located within the front setback 0-20 ft built-to-zone per Article 4.4.1 of 28 

the Zoning Regulations. 29 
 30 

Chair Clough introduced ZBA-2025-03 and asked to hear from the Petitioner. 31 
 32 
Jarod Goodell stated that to begin, he has a clarification to make for the record. He continued 33 

that the opening remarks mentioned that this is specific to a parcel, and this is not parcel-specific. 34 

The written zoning interpretation mentions that the interpretation is for all properties and the 35 

requirements in the Downtown Edge District specifically.  36 

Page 3 of 28



Mr. Goodell continued that he wouldl begin with a summary of how they got to this point. On 37 

April 8, he requested in writing that the Zoning Administrator issue a written determination 38 

regarding its interpretation of “Front Setback – Build-to Zone.” On April 14, the Acting Zoning 39 

Administrator issued that determination. The written determination stated, in summary, that all 40 

structures on a lot must comply with the Build-to Zone. He followed with this appeal, which he 41 

is presenting tonight. 42 
 43 

Mr. Goodell continued that he believes the written interpretation is incorrect. He believes that the 44 

text of the Land Development Code (LDC) is clear on its face and is not subject to modification. 45 

New Hampshire courts have found that “Where the language of a statute is clear on its face, its 46 

meaning is not subject to modification.” The written determination alters the clear text by 47 

defining words in ways that the City Council did not intend. The courts have stated, “We will 48 

neither consider what the legislature might have said nor add words that it did not see fit to 49 

include.” The written determination is inconsistent with the entire scheme of the LDC. When 50 

looking at a statutory scheme, in this case the entire LDC, you must look at not just the sentence 51 

or paragraph you are looking at, but the words in the entire scheme of the code. Finally, the 52 

current text of the LDC only requires that “a” structure be located specifically in the Front 53 

Setback - Build-to Zone. The code does not require that “all or any” structures be located in the 54 

Front Setback - Build-to Zone, despite the written determination. 55 
 56 

Mr. Goodell stated that in the LCD, the Build-to Zone is listed in Article 1.3.3(E) as, “The area 57 

on a lot, measured perpendicularly from the lot line, within which a structure must locate. A 58 

Build-to Zone sets a minimum and maximum dimension within which the building façade line 59 

must be located. Façade articulation (e.g. window or wall recesses and projections) are not 60 

counted as the building façade line, which begins at the applicable façade wall.” He continued 61 

that he included the graphic from the LDC. Build-to Zone is also listed in Defined Terms, which 62 

is in Article 29. He put the text side by side (in a slide) so the ZBA can see that the wording is 63 

verbatim. Both the language in Article 1.3.3(E) and the Defined Terms are identical. That is 64 

good news. 65 
 66 

Mr. Goodell stated that he wants to point to the definition of “setback.”  He wants to read a line 67 

from the written zoning determination, because there is a difference between “setback,” “front 68 

setback,” and “Front Setback - Build-to Zone.” They are all different things, each individually 69 

defined. The Acting Zoning Administrator writes, at the beginning of the second paragraph, 70 

“The City of Keene Zoning Regulations utilize both conventional setback requirements and 71 

build-to requirements in different contexts.” That is important. He agrees with the Acting Zoning 72 

Administrator that a setback, side setback, and a Build-to Zone are different setbacks. That is 73 

why they are listed separately in both the Rules of Measurement, Article 1.3.3(E), and the 74 

Defined Terms, because they have different meanings and different purposes. 75 

Mr. Goodell stated that the definition of a “setback” in both the Rules of Measurement and 76 

Defined Terms is, “The distance between any property line and the nearest point to which any 77 

building or structure can be erected. Measurement shall be to the outermost vertical plane 78 

nearest to the property line.” The definition of “setback, front” is, “The required minimum or 79 

maximum distance that a building or structure must be located from the front lot line.” He 80 

continued that he has not sat through as many meetings as Chair Clough or Mr. Guyot, and he 81 

Page 4 of 28



knows several other Board members are new, but he knows that when boards like the ZBA or the 82 

City Council create and craft language, they choose their words very carefully. During past 83 

meetings, he has heard ZBA members say, “I’d rather it say (this)” or “I’d rather it say (that),” 84 

or “I’m not comfortable with that language.” They need to respect such boards when they 85 

choose words and respect the meaning of the words they choose. Thus, he thinks it is important 86 

to recognize that the definition of “setback” and “setback, front” use different words. In this case, 87 

he has highlighted “any” in the “setback” definition and the word “a” in “setback, front.” 88 
 89 
Mr. Goodell continued that as it pertains to the real-world application of the front setback in the 90 

Downtown Edge District, (he wants to share something) from Article 4.4.1, the dimensional 91 

requirements for projects, structures, or buildings in the Downtown Edge District. Specifically, 92 

in this instance, C. Front Setback requirement, is a 0-20 foot Build-to Zone. The graphic shows 93 

the depiction the LDC uses. He indicated the Build-to Zone in the graphic, and continued that in 94 

essence, as he understands it, a building is required to be built within that depicted area. It could 95 

be right up, 0-foot on the sidewalk or on the street, or it could be as far back as 20 feet. As long 96 

as the front of the building sits in that area, it is in conformity with the dimensional requirements. 97 
 98 

Mr. Goodell continued that he owns several lots on Marlboro St. but will select (this) specific 99 

one, highlighted in yellow on the screen, which is a big, long building. What he could potentially 100 

do is tear that building down, then, (with a new graphic) with the building removed he could 101 

build something new within that 0-20-foot Build-to Zone, (what is shown in the graphic). This is 102 

a big, long lot. If he wanted to add, say, two more buildings behind it, the written zoning 103 

interpretation would not allow for that, because the determination states that all structures or 104 

buildings would need to be located in the Build-to Zone.  105 
 106 
Mr. Goodell continued that he thinks a threshold question is whether the LDC allows multiple 107 

structures, because they need to look at this in the context of the entire scheme of the LDC. Thus, 108 

they turn back to Article 1.3.2(B), which is where they found the Build-to Zone in the first 109 

instance. A section here talks about building coverage. The language states that “Maximum area 110 

of a lot that is permitted to be covered by buildings or structures, which is measured by dividing 111 

the total area of building footprints of all principal and accessory structures by the total lot 112 

area.” The words “buildings,” “structures,” “building footprints,” and “principal and accessory 113 

structures” are all plural. The LDC and the City Council at the time, just in the last five years as 114 

this document was being written, contemplated the idea that they would have multiple structures 115 

on a lot, and that when they do, there is a way they will calculate building coverage for the 116 

purposes of dimensional requirements. Thus, he thinks the answer is clear that the crafters of the 117 

LDC did contemplate multiple structures and they were okay with that. 118 

Mr. Goodell stated that regarding the question of why they are concerned with Build-to Zones, a 119 

few weeks ago, the Joint Planning Board/Planning, Licenses, and Development Committee met, 120 

and this very issue came up with regards to another project. He wants to play the ZBA a snippet 121 

of the video from that meeting, because he does not think he and City staff disagree on the intent 122 

of the Build-to Zone. He thinks there is a question of the interpretation of the language. 123 

Understanding the intent is important.  124 
 125 

Mr. Goodell played the video clip, which had the following audio: 126 
 127 

Page 5 of 28



Evan Clements, Deputy Zoning Administrator: “The intent of the Build-to Zone is that on the 128 

street, pedestrian-scale feel. I think there is a way that we can come up with, for any district that 129 

uses the Build-to Zone, to say that when you want to come in and develop this lot, your first 130 

building or a building that is decided to be the most appropriate for that pedestrian orientation, 131 

be in that Build-to Zone. Then once you have met that requirement, what you do behind it, go 132 

crazy. Do what you want. Obviously, follow the rest of the rules, but go (crazy). Why are we so 133 

concerned with the building be attached to itself?” 134 
 135 
Kate Bosley, City Councilor: “I agree. […]” 136 
 137 

Mr. Goodell stated that again, he agrees with the Deputy Zoning Administrator that the important 138 

part of the Build-to Zone is that they keep the buildings up close and sort of hugging the street or 139 

sidewalk to create that downtown and pedestrian feel, which is the intent of the downtown 140 

zoning districts. He thinks you can meet that by placing structures behind the first, conforming, 141 

primary structure. He thinks the intent is clear, and both he and City staff agree on what the 142 

intent is here. He thinks allowing developers to develop behind initial principal structures that 143 

conform is a good thing; it allows for infill housing development that is much needed in the city. 144 

He did not depict it on his map, but right now there is a big, long structure there, and he could 145 

rebuild if he wanted to take that structure down and put a new building up. He could put a big, 146 

long building up, but he cannot put up three buildings with gaps in between. It takes some mental 147 

gymnastics to really understand why they would want that, or if that makes any sense. 148 
 149 
Mr. Goodell continued that he thinks the real question for the Board is whether the current 150 

language is clear on its face. His bold assumption is that City staff agree on the intent but maybe 151 

do not feel comfortable with the language now and are looking for clarification on whether the 152 

words say what maybe they all think the words should say. His argument is that the words are 153 

clear already. The definition of “setback” uses the word “any” when referring to structures that 154 

must apply to an ordinary setback. Or, as the Acting Zoning Administrator put it, a conventional 155 

setback requirement. The definition of “setback, front” uses the word “a” when referring to a 156 

structure that must locate in the “setback, front,” and the definition of “Build-to Zone” also uses 157 

the word “a” when referring to the area in which a structure must locate.  158 
 159 
Mr. Goodell continued that the LDC says that when a term is not defined, you turn to the 160 

Merriam-Webster Online Dictionary. The word “a” has about 25 meanings, so he removed the 161 

ones that did not apply in this case and presented the ones he thought most accurately 162 

represented the definition of “a” in this context. As a noun, it is “one designated ‘a’ especially as 163 

the first in order or class.” As an indefinite article, it is “used as a function word before singular 164 

nouns when the referent is unspecified.” The Acting Zoning Administrator stated that they 165 

believe “a” was used as an indefinite article in the interpretation. 166 
 167 

He continued that the definition of “any” as an adjective is “one, some, or all indiscriminately of 168 

whatever quantity: a) one or more - used to indicate an undetermined number or amount, b) 169 

unmeasured or unlimited in amount, number, or extent.” As a pronoun, it is “any thing or 170 

things” or “any part, quantity, or number.” The definitions of “a” and “any” are different. The 171 

Indefinite Article Argument from the Merriam-Webster Dictionary says, “The word ‘a’ or ‘an’ 172 

used in English to refer to a person or thing that is not identified or specified. The most common 173 

Page 6 of 28



of all adjectives are the two or three articles. An article always comes before the noun it 174 

describes and before any other adjectives that also describe the noun. Articles are used to show 175 

whether or not the noun refers to a specific person or thing. The indefinite article is ‘a.’ It 176 

identifies a single, but not specific, person or thing. ‘An’ is used instead whenever the following 177 

word begins with a vowel sound.” Mr. Goodell gave four example sentences using ‘a’ and ‘an.’ 178 
 179 

Mr. Goodell continued that more lines from the Merriam-Webster Dictionary say, “In English 180 

grammar, ‘a’ or ‘an’ (indefinite articles) are used with singular, countable nouns, while ‘any’ is 181 

used with plural or uncountable nouns, and in negative sentences and questions.” Essentially, 182 

you use “any” for plural nouns, and “a” or “an” for referring to one item. Mr. Goodell showed an 183 

example of what it means to define “any” and “a,” by having the Board imagine that a tabletop 184 

has a piece of paper on it, and three rubber ducks must be placed on the table, with one rule – a 185 

duck must be located within the piece of paper. He continued that the intent is clear on its face. 186 

Only a structure must locate in the Build-to Zone. The words “a” and “any” are not 187 

interchangeable, and the crafters of the LDC chose different words because they intended for 188 

different meanings. 189 
 190 

Mr. Goodell continued that in the zoning interpretation. the Acting Zoning Administrator writes, 191 

“The phrase ‘a building or structure to be placed on a lot subject to the Build-to Zone 192 

dimensions and siting regulations must locate in the Build-to Zone’ is the same as saying ‘any 193 

building or structure to be placed on a lot subject to the Build-to Zone dimensions and siting 194 

regulations must locate in the Build-to Zone.’” At the beginning of this presentation, he 195 

mentioned that the LDC is clear on its face and is not subject to modification. To support his 196 

claim, the Acting Zoning Administrator literally had to re-write the words that were already 197 

written and say that ‘this means the same as that.’ The Acting Zoning Administrator goes on to 198 

say that in Article 29, “Defined Terms,” the definition for “setback” refers to “any building or 199 

structure” instead of “a building or structure.” They were making a different argument, but he 200 

agrees that the definition of “setback” is different than “front setback - Build-to Zone,” whereas 201 

(the definition of) “setback” uses “any” building and (the definition of) “front setback - Build-to 202 

Zone” uses “a” building. 203 
 204 

Mr. Goodell stated that in conclusion, he prays that the ZBA will find that the written 205 

determination ZBA-2025-03, relating to the application of the Build-to Zone  206 

dimensional requirement to multiple structures on a lot, is in error and to withdraw or invalidate 207 

it and find that the current language of the LDC only requires that a single structure be located in 208 

the Build-to Zone and then additional structures after the first compliant structure may locate 209 

outside of the Build-to Zone. 210 
 211 

He continued that there might be an argument tonight that if the ZBA finds in his favor on this 212 

there could be collateral implications with other things in the LDC. He thinks that should not be 213 

of concern to the ZBA or to himself at this time. If there are other issues in the LDC, they should 214 

be taken up separately and at a different time, either by this board or the City Council. They have 215 

to look at the LDC as it stands now, as a snapshot in time, and make a determination off the 216 

current text. 217 
 218 

Chair Clough thanked Mr. Goodell and asked to hear from staff. 219 

Page 7 of 28



220 

Mari Brunner, Senior Planner, Acting Zoning Administrator, stated that she will run through her 221 

normal process when she is making an interpretation of the code, specifically with respect to 222 

zoning dimensional requirements. She continued that then, she will talk about the specific case 223 

that instigated this written interpretation and appeal. 224 
225 

Ms. Brunner stated that when she looks at any sort of proposal, request, or application, she 226 

knows that in the LDC all development, all redevelopment, the creation of all new lots, and 227 

everything, has to comply with the rules of the LDC. Specifically, under the “Applicability” 228 

section in Article 1, the LDC states, “Except for non-conformances allowed pursuant to Article 229 

19, no structure may be erected, converted, enlarged, reconstructed, moved, or altered; no land 230 

or structures may be used or changed; and no lots of record established by subdivision or 231 

otherwise, that do not comply with all applicable regulations of this LDC.” Therefore, when the 232 

Community Development Department receives an application or an inquiry where there is a 233 

proposed new building or buildings, she first checks to make sure that the proposed use is 234 

allowed in the zoning district, and then, she checks to make sure the proposed building, 235 

buildings, or structures will conform with all of the zoning dimensional requirements of the 236 

district. Zoning dimensional requirements within the LDC include the minimum lot size; 237 

minimum lot width; the front, side, and rear setbacks; maximum impervious coverage; maximum 238 

building coverage; and maximum building height. The requirements are meant to control the 239 

pattern of development and the placement of buildings on lots in relation to the street and other 240 

buildings.  241 
242 

Ms. Brunner continued that for every new use, building, structure, or lot, either she or Mr. 243 

Clements as the Deputy Zoning Administrator will review the proposal to make sure all the 244 

requirements for that zoning district are met. They do this for every new building or structure, 245 

regardless of whether there is already a building on the lot or whether multiple buildings are 246 

proposed or just one. They apply them to everything that is proposed. For example, if they have a 247 

lot that is already developed and already has a principal structure on it and a second principal 248 

structure is proposed, that second principal structure would have to meet the maximum height 249 

requirement. They would not allow the second building to be higher than the maximum height 250 

for that district, because every building in that district has to meet the height requirement. It is 251 

the same thing with the setbacks and the overall impervious coverage. It applies to everything on 252 

the lot. 253 
254 

Ms. Brunner continued that the presence of a building on the lot does not negate the need for the 255 

second building to comply with these requirements. However, in specific instances that are 256 

clearly spelled out in the code, certain zone dimensional requirements do not apply to a specific 257 

use, uses, or structures. These are clearly stated in the Rules of Measurement and Exceptions, in 258 

Article 1, Section 1.3 of the LDC. For example, under Section 1.3.3 – Setbacks in Build-to 259 

Dimensions, subsection 4 is about structure setback exceptions. It includes a list of structures that 260 

may be excluded entirely from the required setbacks. An example would be steps and stairs 261 

necessary to provide access to a building or structure. Another example would be fences, and 262 

another example would be signs that are regulated by Article 10. Those types of structures are 263 

completely exempt from setbacks. 264 
265 

Page 8 of 28



Ms. Brunner continued that another section says that structures within a residential district may 266 

encroach up to 10 feet from the rear property line. Examples of that include pools, decks, and 267 

accessory dwelling units. The way that she reads the code is that if a structure is not listed in this 268 

list of exemptions, then it has to comply with all of the zone dimensional requirements for the 269 

zoning district it is proposed to be in. 270 
 271 

She continued that as the Petitioner pointed out, in Article 29, the definition of “setback” does 272 

use the word “any.” Article 1, Section 1.3 – Rules of Measurement and Exception, also includes 273 

a definition of “building setback.” She read it aloud: “The required minimum or maximum 274 

distance a building or structure must be located from a lot line which is unoccupied and 275 

unobstructed by any portion of the building or structure, unless expressly permitted by this 276 

LDC.” In this instance, it uses the word “a” instead of “any.” She believes the intent was for 277 

those definitions to be identical because they are defining the exact same term, so if they were 278 

not identical, that would make the document internally inconsistent.  279 
 280 
Ms. Brunner continued that she appreciates Mr. Goodell’s presentation, because it clearly 281 

showed what the issue is. The applicant is proposing to demolish an existing structure and build 282 

three new detached duplexes on an interior lot in the Downtown Edge District. The proposed use 283 

is allowed, which is great. The next step is to look at the relevant dimensional requirements for a 284 

non-corner lot in this district. Those are: 285 
 286 

- Have a minimum lot size of 10,000 square feet and a minimum lot width of 50 feet. 287 

- The front setback is a 0-20 foot Build-to Zone. 288 

- The minimum interior side setback is 0 feet. 289 

- The rear setback is 25 feet because it is adjacent to a residential zoning district. 290 

- The minimum front Build-to percentage is 60%. 291 

- The maximum height is 40 feet and three stories. 292 

- The minimum ground floor height is 12 feet. 293 

- The minimum ground floor transparency is 30%. 294 

- The maximum blank wall area is 30 feet. 295 

- The maximum height of building entry threshold above the sidewalk is 18 inches. 296 
 297 
Ms. Brunner continued that the reason she wanted to read through all those is because many of 298 

them pertain to the relationship between the building and the street. Looking at the district as a 299 

whole, all the dimensions are designed around the way that the building interacts with the street, 300 

which is why it is required to be up close to the front of the lot. Again, this is a form-based code 301 

district and one of the reasons for the form-based code is to create that building façade line along 302 

the street, similar to what you see on Main St., and create more interaction with the pedestrian 303 

realm. That is why there are so many of these dimensional requirements here that you would not 304 

see outside of the downtown. Other areas in the zoning code do not have things like 305 

“transparency” and “blank wall area” and “maximum height of the threshold above the 306 

sidewalk.” That is all very oriented towards buildings that are up close to the sidewalk and the 307 

right-of-way. 308 
 309 

Ms. Brunner stated that the Build-to Zone is defined in Article 1, Section 1.3.3, subsection E. as 310 

“the area on a lot measured perpendicularly from the lot line within which a structure must 311 

Page 9 of 28



locate. A Build-to Zone sets a minimum and maximum dimension within which the building 312 

façade line must be located. (e.g. 0-5 feet). Façade articulation (e.g. window or wall recesses 313 

and projections) are not counted as the building façade line, which begins at the applicable 314 

façade wall.” In addition, it includes a minimum front Build-to percentage of 60%, and the 315 

definition of a Build-to percentage is in Article 1, Section 1.3.3(D). That states, “A Build-to 316 

percentage specifies the percentage of the building façade that must be located within the Build-317 

to Zone or at the Build-to line. Façade articulation (e.g. window or wall recesses and 318 

projections) do not count against the required Build-to percentage. Plazas, outdoor dining, or 319 

other public open space features that are also bounded by a building façade parallel to the 320 

frontage are counted as meeting the Build-to percentage. Build-to percentage is calculated by 321 

building façade, not lot width.” Based on these two definitions, and the fact that there are no 322 

exemptions listed anywhere in the LDC for this use in this district, it is her interpretation that at 323 

least 60% of the front building façade of all new proposed structures on the lot are required to be 324 

built within the front Build-to Zone. 325 
 326 

Ms. Brunner continued that she went to the Merriam-Webster Dictionary when looking at the 327 

definition of “a.” One of the definitions is as an indefinite article. The example the dictionary 328 

gave is what really helped her understand, and it said, “A person who is sick cannot work.” In 329 

that instance, “a” was used in the same way that you would normally use “any.” You could also 330 

say, “Any person who is sick cannot work.” Thus, in some instances, “a” can be used in the same 331 

way that you would use the word “any.” Another example would be, “Let’s go see a movie.” 332 

There is no specific movie that we have in mind; it is indefinite. Her interpretation when reading 333 

the definition is that that is just the definition, and then how it applies and what it applies to is 334 

articulated within the Zoning Ordinance. In the Zoning Ordinance it says whether there are 335 

exceptions. In this case, there are no exceptions, so she goes back to the provision at the 336 

beginning that says all structures have to comply with all the rules in the LDC. That is how she 337 

made her interpretation. 338 

Chair Clough stated that since all of these distances are set sort of for perspective, his question is 339 

whether there is a minimum height of a building in that zone or whether there ever has been one. 340 

Ms. Brunner replied that she does not think there is one in the Downtown Edge District, but 341 

some zones have a minimum height. Chair Clough replied that depending on the setback, the 342 

height would actually create perceptions that are different. 343 
 344 

Mr. Schrantz stated that he has a clarification question regarding the 60% information she 345 

provided. He asked if it is correct that the zoning allows for multiple buildings on a lot in this 346 

instance. Ms. Brunner replied yes. Mr. Schrantz replied that the argument is that all buildings 347 

would have to be within the Build-to Zone and 60% of their elevation dimension would have to 348 

be facing the street. He asked if that is correct. Ms. Brunner replied that the way the code reads, 349 

basically 60% of that façade has to be within the Build-to Zone, and it does not count things like 350 

projections of awnings or a recess in the building, or maybe a courtyard with public space. That 351 

would still count toward the 60% as long as it is bounded on either side by building façade that is 352 

in the zone. Mr. Schrantz asked if it is correct that it does not have to do with the total façade of a 353 

building, just the façade that is in the Build-to Zone has to be 60%. Ms. Brunner replied yes. She 354 

continued that as Mr. Goodell was explaining, the rest of the building does not need to be in the 355 

Build-to Zone, just the front façade, and just 60% of it. 356 

Page 10 of 28



357 

Mr. Burke stated that he thinks it comes down to the definition of “a.” He continued that if a 358 

building has to be in the Build-to Zone, then he thinks Mr. Goodell has a point in his argument 359 

about the interpretation of what is written there. His question is regarding Ms. Brunner’s 360 

reference to “all” structures and reference to “any” structures. He asked if she could expand on 361 

that. She gave the example of going to see “a” movie, meaning any movie there. He is curious 362 

about the definition of “any” in the way the LDC writes the code today. 363 
364 

Ms. Brunner replied that the LDC does not define “a” or “any;” it just relies on the common 365 

meanings of those words. Mr. Burke replied that he is asking about Ms. Brunner’s interpretation 366 

in her written argument. He asked if she could expand on what her argument was in the letter to 367 

Mr. Goodell, in reference to “any” structure being required to be in the Build-to Zone. 368 
369 

Ms. Brunner replied that for her it goes back to Article 1, the applicability section of the LDC. 370 

She continued that Section 1.1.4 – Applicability, part A., reads, “To the extent allowed by law, 371 

the provisions of this LDC shall apply to all land, buildings, structures, and uses located within 372 

the jurisdiction of the City of Keene, NH.” There, the LDC uses the word “all.” Part B. reads, 373 

“Except for non-conformances allowed pursuant to Article 19, no structure may be erected, 374 

converted, enlarged, reconstructed, moved, or altered; no land or structures may be used or 375 

changed; and no lots of record established by subdivision or otherwise, that do not conform with 376 

all applicable regulations of this LDC.” She interprets that to mean all buildings have to comply 377 

with the zone dimensional requirements. The definition is just trying to define what a Build-to 378 

Zone is, in her interpretation. It is an area on a lot where the front façade has to be located. 379 
380 

Ms. Brunner continued that this section says that all buildings have to comply with all the rules 381 

and regulations. Article 1, Section 1.3 does not list that duplexes are exempt from any of these 382 

setbacks, or that a second principal structure is exempt, or anything like that. Thus, her 383 

conclusion is that every building has to comply with the Build-to Zone. An accessory dwelling 384 

unit can only be with a single-family home, and it is a single dwelling unit, and it has to be 385 

accessory to the primary use. In this instance, the applicant was proposing three structures, each 386 

of which would be its own principal use. And to her knowledge, there are not any exceptions in 387 

the code for a principal structure to not comply with the setbacks. 388 
389 

Chair Clough asked if the Board had further questions for Ms. Brunner. Hearing none, he asked 390 

if Mr. Goodell had anything else to say.  391 
392 

Mr. Goodell replied yes, he wants to address an argument. He continued that Section 1.1.4. is 393 

accurately titled ‘Applicability’. He continued that the Acting Zoning Administrator is relying on 394 

the words in the last line of subparagraph B, “applicable regulations of the LDC.” That word 395 

“applicable” is very important. There are many things in the LDC that do not apply to, say, 396 

residential districts, but do apply to commercial districts or downtown districts, and vice versa. It 397 

is important, then, to not view subsection B. as saying that everything has to comply with every 398 

word and every requirement in the LDC. Things need to only comply with the applicable 399 

portions of the LDC. In this case, the LDC is clear that only “a” building needs to comply with 400 

the Build-to Zone specifically. That is his counterargument to the idea that this should be the 401 

Page 11 of 28



safety net in this instance to catch this. You might call it a loophole or a mistake in words, but 402 

that is what the words are today. 403 
 404 

Mr. Goodell stated that he thinks the Build-to percentage argument is a red herring. He continued 405 

that the Build-to percentage is a sub-requirement of the Build-to Zone. Yes, a structure must 406 

comply with having 60% in the Build-to Zone, but only “a” structure needs to be in the Build-to 407 

Zone, so as long as 60% of “a” structure is in the Build-to Zone, you have met the requirement. 408 

Regarding the argument about building height, (on the screen are requirements of) the 409 

Downtown Growth District, including building height. He cannot use the Downtown Edge 410 

District as an example of building height, because building height is not a requirement in that 411 

district. He asked if that is correct. Ms. Brunner replied that she believes there is a requirement 412 

for a maximum height of 40 feet or three stories, but there is no minimum. Mr. Goodell replied 413 

that that is a great example of how there are things in the LDC that apply only in certain 414 

circumstances. A building minimum height is a requirement of the LDC, but it is not a blanket 415 

requirement for everything, it is only where it is applicable.  416 
 417 

Mr. Goodell continued that regarding building height, the definitions (in Section 1.3.4 Building 418 

Height) does not really cite “a” or “any” structure. There is no specific language like what is 419 

found in the Build-to Zone or Front Setback that uses the words “a building” or “any building.” 420 

He understands the Acting Zoning Administrator’s argument here, but he thinks it is sort of 421 

apples to oranges. The language is very different between Building Height as an example to 422 

Build-to Zone. 423 
 424 

Mr. Goodell continued that the Acting Zoning Administrator also talked about intent and stated 425 

that maybe some of the language is inconsistent. He does not disagree. If the language is 426 

inconsistent, it should be fixed, but the words that exist today are the rules that the City Council 427 

has said the community will live by. 428 
 429 

Mr. Goodell continued that regarding whether the “all encompassing” argument is at play here, 430 

regarding the applicability issue, the law in NH is that you cannot drive faster than the speed 431 

limit. But the speed limit is different on every road, so the law does not say, for example, that 432 

you cannot drive faster than 50 mph. It says you cannot drive faster than the posted speed limit. 433 

He views the Build-to Zone as a requirement on a specific road, or in this instance, a specific 434 

zoning district. A single rule is not all encompassing on the entire city, which he thinks is the 435 

catch-all argument that is being made here with regards to that applicability section. 436 
 437 
Mr. Goodell continued that lastly, he wants to address the “Let’s go see a movie” example. If he 438 

said that phrase to the group, he assumes everyone would understand they are only attending one 439 

movie that night, not two or three. 440 
 441 

Chair Clough asked for public comment, positive or negative. Hearing none, he closed the public 442 

hearing and asked the Board to deliberate. 443 
 444 

Chair Clough stated that the first thing he noticed was that when he looked for the definition, he 445 

found it on the fourth page and not in the glossary, and they do not agree. He continued that the 446 

definition for “setback” says “a,” but the glossary says “any.” That is an inherent conflict. He 447 

Page 12 of 28



does not know how they could possibly resolve that, because they cannot re-write it. Thus, it 448 

comes down to interpreting “a” and “any” and how it would be applied towards this, and whether 449 

the Board finds for the (applicant) or the administrator.  450 
 451 

Mr. Schrantz stated that he, too, went to the Merriam-Webster Dictionary to try and figure out 452 

the definitions of “a” and “any.” He continued that the one piece he is leaning on here is that 453 

3.B., related to the indefinite article discussion they were having, says “any,” and the example 454 

Ms. Brunner was using, “A person who is sick cannot work,” refers to “any.” He thinks this will 455 

be a longer conversation as they go through this, but for him, it is not easy to get clarity on a 456 

definition of “a” or “any.” It is definitely an interpretation. That is what he has read and seen in 457 

Merriam-Webster. He thinks more conversation is needed, because trying to get clarity on “a” 458 

and “any” and the way it is used throughout the document leads to potential interpretations that 459 

will be critical to where they get the source from. 460 
 461 

Mr. Guyot stated that he agrees with Mr. Schrantz, but to aid in the process, he brings it now to 462 

the context in which the term is being used. He continued that when they look at the definition of 463 

the Build-to Zone, it seems logical to him that “a” means “one” in this instance, when you bring 464 

it into the context of the regulations. The inconsistencies are there, which is troubling, but 465 

looking at the words as they stand, within the context of that section, right now he sees “one.” 466 
 467 

Mr. Burke stated that he kind of agrees. He continued that to him, “a” means “one,” and “any” 468 

would mean “any of one,” not “all.” He is looking at it as, if a structure has to be in the Build-to 469 

Zone, it does not necessarily mean all of the structures in that lot have to be in the Build-to Zone. 470 

He thinks this is an interpretation issue; with the way it is written. As he reads through 471 

everything, he does not see anything that tells him “a” means “all,” which he thinks is the 472 

challenge. 473 
 474 

Chair Clough stated that he did a search in the LDC to see how many times “a building” is 475 

mentioned and how many times “any building” is mentioned. He continued that “a building” is 476 

mentioned about 144 times, and “any building” is mentioned about 24 times. If you read what 477 

follows those words, both “a building” and “any building,” you would see that at least half of 478 

those instances would have nothing to do with this. For example, “Any building’s windows must 479 

be…”, which has nothing to do with setbacks or anything like that. “A building” is used a lot. He 480 

does not know if that is always meant to be a singular, unique building, or if they are using it 481 

much more ubiquitously, “a building.” It is almost like there are very specific times it is being 482 

used. He does not know, in terms of Article 4.4.1. To him, the fact that it says “a” building must 483 

be in a certain part of it, does not help at all. That does not necessarily mean either unique or one 484 

of many. He does not really find an answer for that. 485 
 486 
Chair Clough continued that if the Board feels that “a” means a single, unique building, and the 487 

applicant is looking for multiple, then they would find for the applicant. If the Board feels that 488 

“a” is much more open to interpretation, then they would find for staff. It sounded to him that the 489 

Board is leaning more toward “a” means a single. He asked if anyone contests that significantly. 490 
 491 

Mr. Guyot replied at this point, no. He continued that it is challenging. The grammatical 492 

definitions of the word “a” create a challenge, but generally, from what he has seen reading 493 

Page 13 of 28



through the dictionary definitions and doing some other research, it moves to the singular. Then, 494 

when he brings it into the context, it seems to lean even further to the singular, relative to the 495 

Build-to Zone. Yet if you go to other areas, it could go either way. There are a lot of challenges 496 

there. 497 
 498 

Chair Clough replied yes, he thinks there are places in the LDC where “a” is not unique. They 499 

are saying “a building” that is in this, and there could be multiples, and it is referring to any of 500 

the buildings that are multiple. The fact of “a building” in this zone must have a certain setback, 501 

that actually means every building in the zone must have conformed to that setback. 502 
 503 

Mr. Schrantz stated that if he recalls, from some of the conversation, they are not supposed to be 504 

thinking about intent. He continued that it is really about the specific definition of “a” versus 505 

“any or all” in this specific context. He thinks context is fine, but intent is not something they are 506 

looking at. Thus, he agrees with Mr. Guyot that in general language and with the way he would 507 

speak, “a” is singular and “any” would be multiples. Again, he falls back on, because of the way 508 

the document is written and because of the way that it is somewhat inconsistently interpreted, 509 

and then going to Merriam-Webster where “a” can clearly mean “any,” that is the biggest 510 

challenge for him in voting on this issue. To say if it is definitive, and if there is good clarity 511 

there, and if not, then the Board still needs to make a ruling and determine how to move forward 512 

on this. However, he thinks they are all sensing and feeling the same thing. He does not want to 513 

speak for anyone here, but he thinks there is not enough clarity to make it an easy decision. 514 

Chair Clough stated that with the choices in front of them, they either have to follow one side or 515 

the other or continue the meeting. He continued that personally, he is not sure he would get 516 

further clarity if he slept on this for a year. He would love to have a lightning bolt strike him with 517 

pure clarity, but that is not going to happen. He asked for others’ thoughts. 518 
 519 

Mr. Burke made the following motion, which was seconded by Mr. Guyot.  520 
 521 

On a vote of 4-0, the Zoning Board of Adjustment reversed the administrative decision ZBA-522 

2025-03 where the Acting Zoning Administrator made the interpretation that all building 523 

structures on a lot in the Downtown Edge District are subject to the Build-to Zone dimensional 524 

requirement per Article 4.4.1 of the Zoning Regulations. 525 
 526 

V) New Business  527 
 528 

VI) Staff Updates 529 
 530 

A) Master Plan – Future Summit 531 
 532 

Mr. Clements stated that as everyone has heard, the City is undergoing a Master Plan 533 

comprehensive update. He continued that the Future Summit is scheduled for Tuesday, June 3, 534 

2025. Ms. Brunner replied that at keenemasterplan.com a story map is available, that explains the 535 

six pillars and the goals. She continued that a short survey is available there until May 12. 536 
 537 

B) Board Data Collection 538 
 539 

Page 14 of 28



Mr. Clements stated that as Mr. Burke brought up at the last meeting, it would be helpful to 540 

comprehensively track ZBA decisions to identify potential changes to the code. He continued 541 

that it is a great idea, and staff will share with the board once the best way is determined. 542 
 543 

C) OPD’s Spring 2025 Planning and Zoning Conference – May 10, 2025 544 
 545 

Mr. Clements stated reminder about the Office of Planning and Development Spring conference 546 

scheduled on May 10. He continued that it is free, virtual, and for anyone who is available, he 547 

highly recommends attending it provides an overview of how to be a Planning and Zoning board 548 

member. This conference discusses state statute and how everything works, and he highly 549 

recommends it for both new and senior members on the Board. 550 
 551 

VII) Communications and Miscellaneous  552 
 553 

Chair Clough asked if there was any further business. (No). 554 
 555 

VIII) Non-Public Session (if required) 556 

IX) Adjournment 557 
 558 

There being no further business, Chair Clough adjourned the meeting at 7:34 PM. 559 
 560 

Respectfully submitted by, 561 

Britta Reida, Minute Taker 562 
 563 

Reviewed and edited by, 564 

Corinne Marcou, Clerk 565 

Page 15 of 28



Page intentionally left blank

Page 16 of 28



686 COURT ST 
ZBA-2025-04 

Petitioner requests an Expansion of 
a Non-Conforming Use of a 

Veterinary Hospital in the High 
Density District per Article 26.7.1 of 

the Zoning Regulations.  

Page 17 of 28



Page 18 of 28



ZBA-2025-04 – Expansion of Nonconforming Use – Veterinary Hospital Addition, 686 Court 
St. 

 
Request: 
Petitioner, Timothy Russett, represented by Jonathan Collado of HAD Architects, Inc., Rome, GA, 
requests an Expansion of a Non-Conforming Use, for property located at 686 Court St., Tax Map 
# 228-008-000-000 and is in the High-Density District. The Petitioner is requesting an Expansion 
of a Non-Conforming Use of a veterinary hospital per Article 26.7.1 of the Zoning Regulations. 
 
Background: 
The subject parcel is an 
existing 4.2-acre lot located 
on the western side of Court 
St., approximately 2,500 ft 
from the Cheshire Medical 
Center roundabout. The 
property abuts the Ashuelot 
River to the rear and contains 
an existing 7,106 SF, one story 
building that serves as the 
location of Court Street 
Veterinary Hospital. 
Associated site 
improvements on the property 
include two street access 
points with driveways and a 
parking lot that wraps around 
the building with a total of 33 
parking spaces. 
 
The existing non-conforming 
use of the property is a 
veterinary hospital, which is 
considered an Animal Care Facility use per section 8.3.2.B of the Land Development Code. The 
use is considered non-conforming as an Animal Care Facility is not normally allowed in the High-
Density District. In 1984 the property received approval from the ZBA for a change of 
Nonconforming Use from a tree service business to a veterinary hospital. In 1989 the property 
received approval from the ZBA for an Enlargement of a Nonconforming Use to build an addition. 
In 2020 the property received approval from the ZBA for another Enlargement of a Nonconforming 
Use. 
   
The purpose of the application is to seek approval for an Expansion of a Nonconforming Use into 
a proposed 2,092 SF two story addition to be located at the front of the existing building. The 
applicant states in their narrative that the addition will be used for a larger lobby and reception 
area as well as staff function and workspaces.  
 

Fig 1: Aerial of 686 Court Street located at the red star. 

Page 19 of 28



 
 
 
 
 
Surrounding Uses: 
 
West: Child daycare center & early child education 
North: Multifamily residential, dentist office, healthcare facility 
East: Mixed-use commercial / office 
South: Manufactured Housing Park, conservation land 
 

Fig 2: 686 Court Street located at the red star with surrounding zoning 
districts 

Page 20 of 28



 
Application Analysis:  The following is a review of the relevant sections of the Zoning Ordinance 
and how they impact the subject property: 
 

• Section 8.3.2.B Animal Care Facility: An establishment that provides care for domestic 
animals, including veterinary offices for the treatment of animals where such animals may 
be boarded indoors during their convalescence and pet grooming facilities. An animal 
care facility does not include kennels or animal training centers. 
 

• Animal Care Facility Parking Requirements Table 9-1:  
 

o 3 parking spaces/1,000 SF GFA 
o 9,198 SF = 27 parking spaces required / 33 parking spaces existing 

 
• Approval Standards 

o Such expansion or enlargement would not reduce the value of any property within 
the zoning district, nor otherwise be injurious, obnoxious or offensive to the 
neighborhood. 

o There will be no nuisance or serious hazard to vehicles or pedestrians. 
o Adequate and appropriate facilities will be provided for the proper operation of the 

proposed use. 
 
 

Suggested Conditions and Draft Motion: 

If the Board is inclined to approve this request, the following motion is recommended: 
 “Approve ZBA-2025-04, for the Expansion of a Non-Conforming Use, for property located 
at 686 Court St., Tax Map # 228-008-000-000 as shown on the plan identified as “Court Street 
Vet Hospital” prepared by HDA Architects, Inc at a scale of 1 inch = 30 feet, dated May 5, 2025, 
and in the application and supporting materials, received on May 16, 2025 with no conditions” 
  

Page 21 of 28



City of Keene, NH 

Zoning Board of Adjustment 
Enlargement or Expansion Application 
If you have questions on how to complete this form, please call: (603} 352-5440 or 

email: communitydevelopment@keenenh.gov 

NAME/coMPANY: Court Street Veterinary Hospital 

MAIUNGADDREss: 686 Court Street, Keene, NH 03431 
PHONE: 603.357 .2455 

EMAIL: timothy.russett@gmail.com 
SIGNATURE: 

PRINTED NAME: Timothy Russett 

NAME/coMPANY: Jonathan Collado/ HOA Architects, Inc. 

For Office Use Only: 
Case No. ___ _ 
Date Filled ___ _ 

Rec'd By ___ _ 
Page __ of __ 
Rev'dby ___ _ 

MAIUNGADDREss: 401 Broad Street STE 201, Rome, GA 30161 
PHONE: 706.531.9998 

EMAIL: jonathan@hda-architects.com 
~ -~--·--·-··-· 

PRINTED NAME: Jonathan Collado 

NAME/COMPANY: 

MAILING ADDRESS: 

PHONE: 

EMAIL: 

SIGNATURE: 

PRINTED NAME: 

Pagel of 8 

ZBA-2025-04
05/16/2025

CJM
1 8

Page 22 of 28



 

 Page 2 of  8 

SECTION 2:  GENERAL PROPERTY INFORMATION 

Property Address:  

Tax Map Parcel Number:  

Zoning District: 

Lot Dimensions:  Front:                               Rear:                                Side:                               Side:   

Lot Area:  Acres:                                       Square Feet:   

% of Lot Covered by Structures (buildings, garages, pools, decks, etc): Existing:                             Proposed:   

% of Impervious Coverage (structures plus driveways and/or parking areas, etc): Existing:                        Proposed:   

Present Use:  

Proposed Use:  

SECTION 3:  WRITTEN NARRATIVE 

Article 27.7.4.A.: Describe the property location, owner of the subject property, and explain the purpose and 
effect of, and justification for, the proposed expansion or enlargement of a nonconforming use.  

 

Page 23 of 28



 

 Page 3 of  8 

  SECTION 4:  APPLICATION CRITERIA 

Article 25.7.1: A nonconforming use of a structure or land may be expanded or enlarged with approve from the Zoning 
Board of Adjustment, provided such expansion or enlargement does not violate any of the basic zone dimensional require-
ments of the zoning district in which it is located. 

An enlargement and/or expansion of a nonconforming use is required in order to: 

 

Briefly describe your responses to each criteria, using additional sheets if necessary: 

1. Such expansion or enlargement would not reduce the value of any property within the zoning district, nor 
otherwise be injurious, obnoxious or offensive to the neighborhood.  

 

Page 24 of 28



Page 4 of  8 

2. There will be no nuisance or serious hazard to vehicles or pedestrians.

Page 25 of 28



 

 Page 5 of  8 

3. Adequate and appropriate facilities (i.e., water, sewer, streets, parking, etc.) will be provided for the proper 
operation of the proposed use. 

 

Page 26 of 28



Cama Number Owner Name Co-Owner Name Owner Address Owner Address 2 Owner City Owner 

State

Owner 

Zip

219-001-000-000-000 TANGLEWOOD PARK COOPERATIVE 

INC

10 SPARROW ST KEENE NH 03431

228-014-000-000-000 681 COURT STREET PROPERTIES LLC 86 CAPTAINS WALK LACONIA NH 03246

228-015-000-000-000 CBYW KEENE PROPCO LLC 4500 DORR ST. TOLEDO OH 43615

228-009-000-000-000 SOPHIA'S HEARTH FAMILY CENTER 700 COURT ST KEENE NH 03431

228-007-000-000-000 MCBETH CRAIG F. 650 COURT ST. 7 KEENE NH 03431

228-002-000-000-000 CITY OF KEENE C/O CITY MANAGER 3 WASHINGTON ST KEENE NH 03431

228-013-000-000-995 WRIGHT ESTATE CONDOMINIUM 

ASSOCIATION

21 WINDSOR CT KEENE NH 03431

228-012-000-000-000 TUCKER ERIC BOYD JANET 695 COURT ST KEENE NH 03431

228-008-000-000-000 SER REAL ESTATE HOLDINGS LLC TIMOTHY RUSSETT 686 COURT ST KEENE NH 03431

HDA ARCHITECTS INC JONATHAN COLLADO 401 BROAD ST SUITE 

201

ROME GA 30161

Page 27 of 28



COURT STREET

EXISTING ASPHALT PARKING LOT

(32 SPACES + 1 ADA)

NEW CONCRETE LANDING 

AND RAMP TYP.

EXISTING HOSPITAL

TO BE RENOVATED
MAIN LEVEL -  6,540 SF.

SECOND LEVEL -  566 SF.

TOTAL -  7,106 SF.

NEW ADDITION

MAIN LEVEL -  1,040 SF.

SECOND LEVEL -  1,052 SF.
TOTAL -  2,092 SF.

S
E

T
B

A
C

K

1
5
' -

 0
"

S
E
TB

A
C

K

15
' -

 0
 1

/4
" SETBACK

10' - 0"

SETBACK

10' - 0"

SETBACK

10' - 0"

SETBACK

10' - 0"

S
E

T
B

A
C

K

1
5

'  -  0
"

S
E

T
B

A
C

K

1
5

'  -  0
"

SETBACK

10' - 0"

SETBACK

10' - 0"

SITE INFORMATION:                                                                                                  

LOT AREA: 182,952 SF. (4.2 ACRES)

MAX BUILDING COVERAGE: 55%, 100,624 SF. (2.31 ACRES)

PROPOSED BUILDING COVERAGE: 4%, 7,361 SF. (.17 ACRES)

MAX IMPERVIOUS COVERAGE: 75%, 137,214 SF. (3.15 ACRES)

PROPOSED IMPERVIOUS COVERAGE: 16%, 28,985 SF. (.67 ACRES)

MIN GREEN / OPEN SPACE: 25%, 45,738 SF. (1.05 ACRES) 

PROPOSED GREEN / OPEN SPACE: 84%, 153,967 SF. (3.53 ACRES)

MAX STORIES ABOVE GRADE: 2

PROPOSED STORIES ABOVE GRADE: 2

MAX BUILDING HEIGHT: 35'

PROPOSED BUILDING HEIGHT: 24'

4.2 ACRES

ASHUELOT RIVER

Ch
ec
ke
d 
By
:

Dr
aw

n 
By
:

This drawing is an instrument of service & 

shall remain the property of the Architect. 

Do not reproduce publish or use in any 

way without the consent of the Architect.

HDA Job Number:

hda-architects.com

Toll: 888.221.9232

NC.

HDA
ARCHITECTS,

401 Broad Street

Suite 201

Rome, Georgia

30161

Tel:  706.531.9998

I

Date:

5
/5

/2
0
2
5
 1

1
:2

1
:5

3
 A

M

C
O

U
R

T 
S
TR

E
E
T

V
E
T 

H
O

S
P

IT
A

L

D
R

. 
S
A

B
R

IN
A

 R
U

S
S
E
TT

, 
D

V
M

M
R

. 
TI

M
 R

U
S
S
E
TT

6
8

6
 C

O
U

R
T 

S
TR

E
E
T

K
E
E
N

E
, 
N

H
 0

3
4

3
1

O
V

E
R

A
LL

 S
IT

E

P
LA

N

J
R

C

P
J
H

2430

AS-1.1

N
O

T 
F
O

R
 C

O
N

S
TR

U
C

TI
O

N

5.5.2025

1" = 30'-0"AS-1.1

1 Architectural Site Plan

Release Description

5-5-2025 ZBA REVIEW

Page 28 of 28


	Blank Page
	Blank Page
	2025-04 Application.pdf
	Untitled

	2025-04 Expansion of a NonConforming Use Site Plan.pdf
	Sheets
	AS-1.1 - OVERALL SITE PLAN



	Property Address: 686 Court Street
	Tax Map Parcel Number: 228-008-000-000-000
	ZONING DISTRICT: [High Density ]
	FRONT: 314'
	REAR: 364'
	SIDE 1: 360'
	SIDE 2: 598.12'
	ACRES: 4.2
	SQUARE FEET: 182,952
	EXISTING 1: 3.5%
	PROPOSED 1: 4%
	EXISTING 2: 14%
	PROPOSED 2: 16%
	Present Use: Veterinary Hospital
	Proposed Use: Veterinary Hospital
	WRITTEN NARRATIVE: The property address is 686 Court Street, zoned in the High Density District.  The property butts up against Court Street at the front, Ashuelot River at the rear, 700 Court Street at the left and 650 Court Street at the right.  The property owner is Court Street Veterinary Hospital, managed by Timothy Russett. The purpose of expanding the hospital is to accommodate for the growing clients and staff needs.  The expansion will allow for a larger lobby area and reception, and a larger staff function/workspaces.    
	REQUEST: The expansion will allow for a larger lobby area and reception, and a larger staff function/workspaces. 
	CRITERIA 1: The expansion incorporates similar motifs and materials visible to the current state of the building.  It incorporates similar wall siding, trim, windows and roof slope and materials.  It will not reduce the value of any property within the zoning district, nor otherwise be injurious, obnoxious or offensive to the neighborhood.    
	CRITERIA 2: This is true.  The expansion is minimal compared to the site and will not be a nuisance or cause serious hazard to vehicles and pedestrians.
	CRITERIA 3: The existing facilities such as water and sewer are adequate to accommodate the proper operation of the proposed use.  The parking count also meets the minimum required per Land Development Code.  


